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  2nd Quarter   Half Year 

Continuing operations  

in € millions Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Change   H1/2015 H1/2014 Change 

Group               

Total revenues 796.7 744.4 7.0 %   1,577.3 1,436.8 9.8 %

Digital media revenues share1) 62.1 % 53.8 %    62.5 % 54.4 %  

EBITDA2) 147.0 147.8 – 0.6 %   266.7 266.1 0.2 %

EBITDA margin2) 18.4 % 19.9 %    16.9 % 18.5 %  

Digital media EBITDA share1) 76.7 % 60.1 %    74.9 % 60.1 %  

EBIT3) 119.5 122.3 – 2.3 %   214.8 221.2 – 2.9 %

Consolidated net income 68.0 76.0 – 10.5 %   111.0 141.6 – 21.6 %

Consolidated net income, adjusted3) 78.8 76.5 3.0 %   136.5 138.2 – 1.2 %

            

Segments               

Revenues           

Classified Ad Models 179.2 115.4 55.2 %   355.3 226.6 56.8 %

Paid Models 380.3 406.4 – 6.4 %   728.9 760.2 – 4.1 %

Marketing Models 209.1 182.0 14.9 %   428.1 370.8 15.5 %

Services/Holding 28.2 40.7 – 30.6 %   64.9 79.1 – 18.0 %

EBITDA2)           

Classified Ad Models 76.6 52.7 45.3 %   147.3 101.0 45.9 %

Paid Models 50.6 75.4 – 33.0 %   90.8 132.7 – 31.6 %

Marketing Models 26.3 28.9 – 9.0 %   48.7 55.3 – 11.9 %

Services/Holding – 6.5 – 9.3 −   – 20.1 – 22.9 −

            

Liquidity and financial position               

Free cash flow4) 16.0 3.4 >100 %   86.9 82.4 5.4 %

Capex5) – 32.4 – 25.2 −   – 56.0 – 43.0 −

Total assets6) 5,975.8 5,557.7 7.5 %   5,975.8 5,557.7 7.5 %

Equity ratio6) 39.0 % 42.4 %    39.0 % 42.4 %  

Net liquidity/debt6) – 993.8 – 667.8 −   – 993.8 – 667.8 −

            

Share-related key figures
7)
               

Earnings per share, adjusted (in €)3) 8) 0.65 0.60 7.2 %   1.09 1.12 – 2.7 %

Earnings per share (in €) 0.49 0.59 – 16.9 %   0.81 1.17 – 30.7 %

Closing price (in €) 47.09 44.95 4.8 %   47.09 44.95 4.8 %

Market capitalization9) 4,659.1 4,447.4 4.8 %   4,659.1 4,447.4 4.8 %

            

Average number of employees 14,871 13,506 10.1 %   14,781 13,295 11.2 % 

1)
 Based on the operating business (without the segment Services/Holding). 

2)
 Adjusted for non-recurring effects. 

3)
 Adjusted for non-recurring effects and amortization and impairments from purchase price allocations. 

4)
 Cash flow from operating activities minus capital expenditures, plus cash inflows from disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. 

5)
 Capital expenditures on intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and investment property. 

6)
 As of June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. 

7)
 Quotations based on XETRA closing prices. 

8)
 The earnings per share (basic/diluted) adjusted for non-recurring effects and amortization and impairments from purchase price allocations were calculated on the basis of 

average weighted shares outstanding in the reporting period (98.9 million). 
9)
 Based on outstanding shares at the closing price, excluding treasury sales.
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Summary of business performance and 
operating results  

Development of revenues and earnings 
Development in the first half of the current fiscal year 

continued to be influenced by the digital transformation 

of the company. During the reporting period, total reve-

nues of € 1,577.3 million were 9.8 % higher than the 

figure for the previous year. As expected, the declines 

registered in the print business could be sufficiently 

compensated by growth in the Group’s digital media 

activities. Adjusted for consolidation and currency effects, 

total revenues were slightly higher (+ 0.7 %) than the 

corresponding prior-year figure. 

EBITDA was € 266.7 million and therefore on the prior-

year level (€ 266.1 million). A considerable increase with-

in Classified Ad Models compensated for declines in 

results for Marketing Models and Paid Models.  

Comparison of business performance with our 
expectations 
Developments during the first half-year largely confirmed 

our forecasts for the whole of 2015. 

Consolidation effects contributed to the high single-digit 

percentage increase in total revenues during the first 

half-year, the effects of which should decrease during 

the course of the year to date. We anticipate that total 

revenues will be higher for the whole of the year as com-

pared with the prior-year figure by an amount in the low 

to mid single-digit percentage range. As expected, ad-

vertising revenues in the first half-year were driven above 

the prior-year value by developments in digital media, 

whilst circulation revenues declined. Other revenues 

developed better than expected and increased com-

pared to the prior-year value. With regards to EBITDA, 

EBIT, and the adjusted earnings per share the expected 

rise, based on various factors, is likely to be achieved, 

through earnings growth in the second half of the year. 

Outlook for 2015 
We anticipate in the Group that total revenues will be 

higher for the 2015 financial year than the prior-year 

figure by an amount in the low to mid single-digit per-

centage range. We assume that the planned increase in 

advertising revenues will more than compensate for the 

fall in circulation revenues and other revenues. 

We expect a rise in EBITDA in the high single-digit per-

centage range. In this case a rise in EBITDA in the Clas-

sified Ad Models and Services/Holding segments is 

expected, whilst the EBITDA of Paid Models should finish 

below the level of the prior year due to further invest-

ments in product quality and also in digitization. For the 

Marketing Models segment we also, amongst other 

things, expect EBITDA to be below the level of the prior 

year due to portfolio changes as well as planned ex-

penditure for increasing competitiveness, and interna-

tionalization of digital business models within the field of 

Reach Based Marketing. 

For EBIT, we expect developments to be similar to those 

for EBITDA. 

For the adjusted earnings per share we expect, due 

to a lower proportion of adjusted consolidated net in-

come that is due for minorities, an increase in the low 

double-digit percentage range compared to the prior-

year figure. 

Fundamentals of the Axel Springer 
Group 

The fundamentals of the Axel Springer Group described 

in the Annual Report published on March 4, 2015 are still 

applicable. 

In particular, we continue to systematically pursue a 

strategy of profitable growth, with the goal of becoming 

the leading digital publisher. 
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General economic conditions 

General economic environment 
In the first quarter 2015, the International Monetary Fund 

(IMF) observed weaker dynamics in the global econo-

my, which the IMF primarily attributed to a weather-

related decline in the economy in the United States at 

the beginning of 2015. According to the IMF, there has 

also been a decline in growth in the emerging economies, 

in particular China. 

The ifo Institute sees the German economy in a strong 

economic upswing in 2015. In an economic analysis 

presented in June 2015, the economic researchers 

assume that the economic growth in the first half of 2015 

was mainly driven by domestic demand. The largest 

growth came in turn from private consumption, which 

increased by 2.3 % in real terms. It was encouraged by 

the favorable labor market situation and rising incomes. 

The sharp decline in oil prices also led to an increase in 

purchasing power. The capital expenditures in equip-

ment, adjusted for price, increased by 1.5 %. Construc-

tion investment stagnated in the first half of 2015. Export 

increased in real terms by 4.6 % and thus was somewhat 

less dynamic than import, which was carried by the 

strong domestic economy and, adjusted for price, was 

able to increase by 5.2 %. 

The ifo business climate index deteriorated for the sec-

ond time in succession in June 2015. In particular, busi-

ness expectations have declined markedly. The con-

sumer climate as measured by the GfK Group rose again 

slightly in the second quarter of 2015. However, the 

propensity to buy decreased. 

According to calculations from the German Federal Sta-

tistical Office, consumer prices increased by 0.3 % in the 

first half of 2015 compared to the same period last year. 

In June 2015, the German Federal Employment Agency 

counted 2.7 million unemployed job seekers. This was 

4.3 % less than the corresponding prior-year figure. The 

unemployment rate was 6.2 %. 

 

Distribution market 
The domestic press distribution market regressed 

slightly yet again. The total paid circulation of newspa-

pers and magazines was 6.1 % below the corresponding 

prior-year figure. Thanks to the price increases imple-

mented in the past four quarters, however, circulation 

revenues declined by only 3.9 %.  

The 352 IVW registered daily and Sunday newspa-

pers achieved total sales of 18.9 million copies per pub-

lication day. Compared to the prior-year figure, this cor-

responds to a fall of 4.9 %. As in the previous year, 

newsstand sales (– 9.3 %) suffered a much greater de-

cline than subscription sales (– 3.6 %). Within the press 

distribution market, the demand for daily and Sunday 

newspapers – as weighted for their respective publica-

tion frequencies – declined by 5.8 %. 

Overall sales of general-interest magazines including 

membership and club magazines was 98.0 million copies 

per publication day. Compared to the prior-year figure, 

this corresponds to a fall of 4.8 %. IVW tracked a total of 

792 titles (– 4.9 % compared with the prior-year figure). 

Weighted for their respective publication frequencies, the 

demand for general-interest magazines declined by 6.9 %. 

Whereas the circulation volumes of print media declined 

further in the first half of the current year, online media 

continued the growth trend of prior periods. According to 

the study “internet facts 2015-04”published by the 

Working Group for Online Research (AGOF), 55.5 million 

people in Germany use the Internet today (Internet users 

within the last three months). That number represents 

75.5 % of German residents aged 10 and older. Of the 

total regular Internet users 72.4 % go online to obtain 

information about world events, and 65.0 % use the 

Internet for regional or local news. Thus, getting the 

news is one of the main reasons for using the Internet, 

besides e-mail, online searches, online shopping, and 

weather forecasts. Job listings are also one of the 20 

most-used online categories. Alongside the wired Inter-

net, the mobile Internet continues to gain in importance 

according to the study “mobile facts 2015-I”. In the first 

three months of this year, 34.5 million people were mo-

bile online, which corresponds to 48.9 % of the German-

Economic report 
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speaking residential population of Germany over 

14 years of age). In most cases (65.9 %) people use the 

mobile Internet in addition to the stationary Internet. 

According to IVW, the content portals of German print 

media were visited much more frequently in the first half 

of 2015 than during the same period in 2014. The 20 

most popular portals of German daily newspapers in-

creased the number of visits by an aggregate of 10.3 %, 

whilst the visits to portals belonging to magazines rose 

by 9.8 %. 

Business performance 

In February 2015, Axel Springer Digital Classifieds signed 

an agreement with the shareholders of the real estate 

portal Immowelt regarding combining the Immowelt 

Group and the Immonet Group belonging to Axel 

Springer Digital Classifieds. After finalization of various 

purchase and contribution agreements in June 2015, 

both real estate portals will be brought under the auspi-

ces of the new Immowelt Holding AG company. Axel 

Springer Digital Classifieds holds a majority of 55 % of 

the company. The remaining 45 % are held by the cur-

rent shareholders of Immowelt AG. Axel Springer Digital 

Classifieds has granted the remaining shareholders vari-

ous options for selling their shareholding to Axel Springer 

Digital Classifieds in connection with the transaction. The 

transaction was based on a valuation of both companies 

totaling € 420 million. Axel Springer Digital Classifieds 

paid a total of approximately € 131 million as a purchase 

price to the previous partners of Immowelt in connection 

with creating the new structure. The combining of both 

portals makes it possible for Axel Springer Digital Classi-

fieds to sustainably improve the competitive position 

within the German market segment for real estate portals.  

Axel Springer Digital Ventures, a 100 % subsidiary of 

Axel Springer, has acquired a minority equity holding as 

the lead investor of a round of financing worth 

US$ 25 million in Business Insider during the first 

quarter of the current year. Business Insider, based in 

New York, operates the largest business news website 

in the USA (businessinsider.com). The company is pre-

sent in seven countries with regional websites. 

aufeminin has taken over all shares in the digital publish-

er Livingly Media in the USA in the first quarter of the 

current year as part of its strategy of internationalization. 

Livingly Media operates the three websites Zimbio.com 

(entertainment), StyleBistro.com (fashion, beauty and 

style) and Lonny.com (living and decor). The company 

has considerable expertise within the mobile and social 

media sectors. 

Furthermore, aufeminin intends to concentrate on its 

digital publishing activities and has also initiated a con-

tract with Cathay Capital in the first quarter of 2015 

regarding the sale of 100 % of capital in the subsidiary 

Smart AdServer. The sale was fully completed in April 

2015, and Smart AdServer was sold to a company be-

longing to Cathay Capital and Smart AdServer top man-

agement at a total price of € 37 million. 

In the first quarter of 2015, we sold about 2.7 % of our 

equity stake in Do⁄an TV Holding A.S., Istanbul, Turkey. 

The revenues from this transaction amounted to 

€ 63.3 million. 

In June 2015, the media group Talpa Media announced 

the takeover of the remaining 50.1 % interest in the TV 

producer Talpa Germany from Axel Springer SE. In 

December 2014, Talpa had already acquired 49.9 % of 

Talpa Germany (previously Schwartzkopff TV.) 
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Financial performance of the Group 
(continuing operations) 

The following description of the Group’s financial perfor-

mance refers exclusively to continuing operations. 

During the reporting period total revenues were 

€ 1,577.3 million, and therefore 9.8 % above the prior-year 

figure (€ 1,436.8 million). The revenue increase resulted 

from growth in the segments of Classified Ad Models and 

Marketing Models, while the revenues of the Paid Models 

and the Services/Holding segment declined. Even adjusted 

for consolidation and currency effects, revenues were 

slightly higher (+ 0.7 %) than the prior-year figure. 

The pro-forma revenues of digital media increased to 

€ 946.6 million. (PY: € 848.4 million), organic growth 

was correspondingly at 11.6 %. Thus, their share of the 

Group’s pro-forma total revenues rose from 54.8 % 

during the prior year to 60.0 %. For the operative seg-

ments organic growth was 13.3 % for Classified Ad Models, 

1.2 % for Paid Models, and 14.7 % for Marketing Models. 

The pro-forma revenues take into account the compa-

nies acquired in 2014 and 2015 on the basis of unaudit-

ed financial data. 

The international revenues increased by 23.6 % to 

€ 753.9 million and therefore amount to 47.8 % 

(PY: 42.4 %) of Axel Springer’s total revenues. The in-

crease resulted from the growing internationalization of 

the digital business. 

 

The increase in advertising revenues by 15.3 % to 

€ 985.9 million (PY: € 855.3 million) was based on the 

growth in Classified Ad Models and Marketing Models. 

Advertising revenues from Paid Models were below the 

level of the prior year as they compare to a strong equiv-

alent quarter in 2014 due to the Soccer World Cup as 

well as a special edition of BILD. Advertising revenues as 

a proportion of total revenues was 62.5 % (PY: 59.5 %). 

Of the total advertising revenues, 80.1 % was generated 

through digital activities. 

Due to structural declines within the print business,  

circulation revenues totaled € 351.1 million and were 

subsequently 3.7 % below the prior-year figure 

(€ 364.7 million). Thus, their share of total revenues was 

22.3 % (PY: 25.4 %). 

The other revenues totaled € 240.3 million and were 

therefore 10.9 % above the prior-year value 

(€ 216.7 million). Growth was mainly due to the Market-

ing Models and Paid Models segments. This accounted 

for 15.2 % (PY: 15.1 %) of the total revenues. 

Total Revenues

Circulation

€ millions

Advertising Other

216.7

240.3

985.9

351.1

855.3

364.7

1,436.8 1,577.3H1/2014 H1/2015
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A comparison of segment revenues reveals substantial 

growth in the Classified Ad Models and Marketing Models 

on the one hand and declining revenues in the case of Paid 

Models and in the Services/Holding segment on the other. 

Compared to the prior-year figure, total expenses 

increased by 10.1 % to € 1,482.9 million (PY: 

€ 1,346.8 million). The increase is predominantly due to 

consolidation effects of acquired companies. 

Compared to the prior-year figure, purchased goods 

and services increased by 6.0 % to € 489.1 million (PY: 

€ 461.6 million) which was due to consolidation effects 

and increases within Performance Marketing. The ratio of 

purchased goods and services to total revenues fell to 

31.0 % (PY: 32.1 %).  

The increase in personnel expenses by 13.0 % to 

€ 523.8 million (PY: € 463.6 million), was predominantly 

a result of the incorporation of acquired subsidiaries. 

Depreciation, amortization, and impairments totaled 

€ 92.3 million, which was higher than the prior-year 

figure of € 83.6 million due to consolidation effects, 

higher amortization and impairments from purchase price 

allocations and higher investments in intangible assets. 

The other operating income was € 62.0 million  

and therefore slightly below that of the prior year  

(PY: € 77.4 million). 

The other operating expenses were € 377.6 million, 

mainly due to the incorporation of acquired subsidiaries, 

and therefore above the prior-year figure (PY: € 337.9  

million). 

The net investment income totaled € 5.2 million. (PY: 

€ 28.4 million), which was characterized, in particular, 

during the prior year by the profit from the sale of 2.6 % 

of our equity holding in Do⁄an TV. Due to the value of 

contractually agreed put options at the end of the previ-

ous year that were at the level of the discounted pay-

ment entitlements, there were no effects on overall re-

sults from the exercise of the put option on the sale of a 

further 2.7 % equity stake in Do⁄an TV during the report-

ing period. The operating net investment income includ-

ed in the calculation of EBITDA amounted to 

€ 4.1 million (PY: € 7.6 million).  

Predominantly due to currency effects in the first quarter 

in connection with the devaluation of the Euro, the net 

financial result was € – 14.5 million below the prior-

year figure (PY: € – 10.3 million). 

During the previous half-year, income taxes amounted 

to € – 52.1 million. (PY: € – 52.3 million). The tax ratio 

was 32.0 % (PY: only 27.0 % due to the largely tax-free 

income from the sale of an equity holding in Do⁄an TV). 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amorti-

zation (EBITDA) rose 0.2 % to € 266.7 million compared 

to the prior-year figure (PY: € 266.1 million). The EBITDA 

margin generated therefore fell to 16.9 % (PY: 18.5 %). 

The EBITDA of digital activities rose by 23.8 % from 

€ 173.6 million to € 214.9 million. The digital share of 

EBITDA from operating activities rose from 60.1 % to 

74.9 %. At the end of 2014, this lay at 63.6 %. As a result 

of the increase in depreciation the earnings before interest 

and taxes (EBIT) fell, compared to the previous year, by 

2.9 % to € 214.8 million (PY: € 221.2 million). Non-

recurring effects such as e. g. gains or losses on the sale 

of business divisions and investments are not included in 

Segment Revenues

Classified Ad Models

Paid Models

Marketing Models

Services/Holding

22.5 %

46.2 %

27.1 %

4.1 %
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EBITDA and EBIT; furthermore write-downs from pur-

chase price allocations and write-downs linked with the 

sale of real estate are not included in EBIT. 

 

The consolidated net income from continuing activities 

amounted to € 111.0 million (PY: € 141.6 million). The 

adjusted consolidated net income from continuing activi-

ties remained at the prior-year level with € 136.5 million. 

(PY: € 138.2 million). 

Consolidated Net Income (continuing operations) 

 

€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 

Consolidated net income (continuing 

operations) 111.0 141.6 

Non-recurring effects – 0.7 – 15.4

Depreciation, amortization, and 
impairments of purchase price allocations 37.9 32.4

Taxes attributable to these effects – 11.7 – 20.4

Consolidated net income, adjusted 

(from continuing operations) 136.5 138.2 

Attributable to non-controlling interest 28.4 27.2

Adjusted consolidated net income from 

continuing operations attributable to 

shareholders of Axel Springer SE 108.0 111.0 

 

 

The earnings per share from continuing operations  

(basic = undiluted) amounted to € 0.81 (PY: € 1.17). 

Based on the average weighted shares outstanding in the 

reporting period (98.9 million), the calculated adjusted 

earnings per share from continuing operations (basic = 

diluted) decreased to € 1.09 (PY: € 1.12). 

Adjusted consolidated net income and adjusted earnings 

per share are not defined under International Financial 

Reporting Standards, and should therefore be regarded 

as supplementary information to the consolidated finan-

cial statements. 

Financial performance of the operating 
segments (continuing operations) 

Classified Ad Models 
All Business models which predominantly generate reve-

nues in online classified advertising are summarized in 

the Classified Ad Models segment. The segment is sub-

divided into jobs, real estate, and general/other. 

Key Figures Classified Ad Models 

 

€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 Change 

External revenues 355.3 226.6 56.8 % 

Advertising revenues 344.5 218.6 57.6 %

Other revenues 10.8 8.0 34.5 %

        

Jobs 170.3 117.6 44.8 % 

Real Estate 101.6 94.7 7.3 % 

General/Other 83.4 14.3 >100 % 

        

EBITDA 147.3 101.0 45.9 % 

Jobs 73.9 54.9 34.6 %

Real Estate 51.4 45.0 14.1 %

General/Other 25.1 2.7 >100 %

        

EBITDA margin 41.5 % 44.5 %   

Jobs 43.4 % 46.7 %   

Real Estate 50.6 % 47.6 %   

General/Other 30.1 % 18.8 %   

1)
 Segment EBITDA includes non-allocated costs of € 3.1 million (PY: € 1.7 million). 

EBITDA

EBITDA margin in %

€ millions

H1/2014 H1/2015

18.5 %

266.1

16.9 %

266.7
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Revenues in the Classified Ad Models segment in-

creased by 56.8 % to € 355.3 million compared to the 

same period last year (PY: € 226.6 million). Alongside an 

improvement in operative revenue, particularly from job 

portals, consolidation effects, due to, amongst other 

things, the incorporation of @Leisure, LaCentrale, Jobsite 

and Yad2 had an effect. Adjusted for these effects, reve-

nue growth came to 15.0 %. Also, the increase in adver-

tising revenues by 57.6 % to € 344.5 million (PY: € 

218.6 million) could be traced back to organic growth 

and also to consolidation effects. Adjusted for consolida-

tion effects, the increase came to 15.8 %. 

EBITDA of the segment increased considerably by 45.9 % 

to € 147.3 million (PY: € 101.0 million). As in the case of 

revenues, a significant part of the increase can be at-

tributed to consolidation effects. Adjusted for these ef-

fects, the increase came to 14.9 %. The margin fell by 

3.1 percentage points to 41.5 % (PY: 44.5 %). The mar-

gin decline is, amongst other things, due to the inclusion 

of acquired companies, the margins of which are below 

the average value of the segment margin. 

Key Figures Classified Ad Models 2
nd

 Quarter 

 

€ millions Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Change 

External revenues 179.2 115.4 55.2 % 

Advertising revenues 173.6 112.4 54.5 %

Other revenues 5.5 3.1 80.7 %

        

Jobs 86.8 59.3 46.5 % 

Real Estate 51.8 48.2 7.5 % 

General/Other 40.5 8.0 >100 % 

        

EBITDA 76.6 52.7 45.3 % 

Jobs 38.7 28.6 35.3 %

Real Estate 29.0 23.3 24.5 %

General/Other 10.7 1.7 >100 %

        

EBITDA margin 42.8 % 45.7 %   

Jobs 44.6 % 48.3 %   

Real Estate 56.0 % 48.4 %   

General/Other 26.3 % 21.3 %   

1)
 Segment EBITDA includes non-allocated costs of € 1.7 million (PY: € 0.9 million). 

Paid Models 
The Paid Models segment comprises all business mod-

els that are predominantly used by paying readers. This 

segment is subdivided into national and international 

paid-content models. 

Paid Models National 

The net reach values of selected portals are presented in 

the table below. Because Internet usage via mobile de-

vices is particularly important for some of our digital 

activities, mobile reach values are presented in addition 

to stationary Internet usage. 
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Unique Users 

Millions 

(monthly 

average) 

Unique 

Users 

stationary
1)
 

Change 

yoy 

Unique 

Users 

mobile
2)
 

Change 

yoy 

Bild.de 16.6  7.9 % 7.2 38.7 %

computerbild.de 13.33) 1.1 % 2.0 >100 %

welt.de 9.5  0.0 % 4.4 53.2 %

autobild.de 5.0   -4) 1.2 87.5 %

N24.de 3.2  17.7 % 2.2 64.4 %

transfermarkt.de 1.6   -4) 1.7 >100 %

travelbook.de 1.4  21.0 % 0.5  -4)

stylebook.de 1.3  3.3 % 0.4  -4)

bz-berlin.de 1.2   -4) 0.8 55.6 %

1)
 Quelle: AGOF internet facts 2015– 4, monthly average (Feb.-Apr. 2015).  

2)
 Source: AGOF mobile facts 2015-I, monthly average (Jan.-Mar. 2015). 

3)
 Incl. idealo.de.  

4)
 Comparison to prior-year figures not applicable.  

The circulation and reach figures of the print media in the 

segment Paid Models declined during the financial year, 

predominantly due to market trends. 

Circulation, Digital Subscriptions, and Reach 

 

Thousands 

Circu- 

lation/ 

Digital 

Subs
1)
 

Change 

yoy Reach
2)
 Change

3)

Bild/B.Z. 2,220.3 – 6.9 % 10,353.0 – 6.9 %

Bild am Sonntag 1,076.9 – 7.1 % 8,661.9 0.0 %

Bild digital 265.2  -4) 16,639.0  7.9 %

Die Welt/ 
Welt Kompakt 200.9 – 2.7 % 669.4 – 2.4 %

Welt am Sonntag/ 
Welt am Sonntag 
Kompakt 400.5 – 0.1 % 886.2 0.0 %

Welt digital 63.5  -4) 9,490.0  0.0 %

Auto Bild 435.7 – 8.6 % 2,901.9 4.3 %

Sport Bild 360.2 – 4.5 % 4,138.1 1.5 %

Computer Bild 294.3 – 17.6 % 2,859.5 – 5.6 %

1)
 Source: IVW, average paid circulation H1/2015; For BILD digital and WELT digital: 

IVW, digital subscriptions (paid content), monthly average (Jan.-Jun. 2015). 
 

2) 
Source: ma 2015 Pressemedien II; For BILD digital and WELT digital: unique users, 

AGOF internet facts 2015– 4, monthly average (Feb.-Apr. 2015). 
 

3)
 Compared to ma 2015 Pressemedien I. 

 

4)
 Comparison to prior-year figures not applicable. 

 

Paid Models International 

The net reach values of selected portals are presented in 

the table below. 

Unique Visitors 

 

Millions (monthly average) 

Unique 

Visitors 

H1/2015
1)
 

Change 

yoy 

onet.pl 15.4 – 10.7 %

fakt.pl 4.0 15.3 %

blic.rs 2.9 – 2.8 %

forbes.ru 2.5 – 16.4 %

azet.sk 2.0 – 12.5 %

cas.sk 1.4 – 13.1 %

1)
 Source: comScore Europe, monthly average (Jan.-Jun. 2015) 

 

The circulation and reach figures for the leading mass-

circulation dailies within the countries of our joint venture 

Ringier Axel Springer Media are presented in the table 

below. 

Circulation and Reach 

Thousands 

Circu-

lation 

Change 

yoy Reach 

Change 

yoy 

Fakt1) 320.0 – 5.0 % 1,508.1 – 22.6 %

Blic2) 103.2 – 7.2 % 739.6 – 10.5 %

Novy Cas3) 95.8 – 7.7 % 737.6 – 6.2 %

Alo!2) 87.9 – 11.6 % 420.4 – 2.9 %

1)
 Poland. Circulation: ZKDP, 2015 (Jan.-May) vs. 2014 (Jan.-May); Reach: PBC 

General, 2015 (Jan.-May) vs. 2014 (Jan.-May). 
2)
 Serbia. Circulation: ABC, 2015 (Jan.-Apr.) vs. 2014 (Jan.-Apr.); Reach: Ipsos 

Strategic Marketing, 2015 (Jan.-May) vs. 2014 (Jan.-May). 
3)
 Slovakia. Circulation: ABC, 2015 (Jan.-May) vs. 2014 (Jan.-May); Reach: Median, 

2015 (Jan.-Mar.) vs. 2014 (Jan.-Mar.) 

The circulation numbers of our international newspapers 

and magazines declined, in line with market trends. 
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Key Figures Paid Models 

 

€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 Change 

External revenues 728.9 760.2 – 4.1 % 

Advertising revenues 301.4 329.4 – 8.5 %

Circulation revenues 350.9 364.7 – 3.8 %

Other revenues 76.6 66.1 15.8 %

        

National 531.5 567.5 – 6.3 % 

Advertising revenues 216.8 245.3 – 11.6 %

Circulation revenues 269.6 282.6 – 4.6 %

Other revenues 45.1 39.6 13.9 %

        

International 197.4 192.7 2.4 % 

Advertising revenues 84.6 84.1 0.6 %

Circulation revenues 81.3 82.1 – 1.0 %

Other revenues 31.5 26.5 18.7 %

        

EBITDA 90.8 132.7 – 31.6 % 

National 64.0 110.4 – 42.0 %

International 26.8 22.3 20.1 %

        

EBITDA margin 12.5 % 17.5 %   

National 12.0 % 19.4%   

International 13.6 % 11.6%   

 

 

 

Total revenues in the Paid Models segment were 

€ 728.9 million, which is 4.1 % below the value for the 

previous year (€ 760.2 million). Adjusted for consolida-

tion effects, total revenues were 6.3 % less than the 

prior-year figure. Advertising revenues in the Paid Models 

segment in the first half-year were € 301.4 million, which 

is 8.5 % below the value of the same period in the previ-

ous year (€ 329.4 million). In the second quarter, the 

decline intensified with 12.7 % due to the strong quarter 

in the previous year because of the World Cup and a 

BILD Special Edition. Adjusted for consolidation effects, 

advertising revenues in the reporting period showed a 

decline of 10.9 % and in the second quarter of 14.5 %. 

Due to the fall in print revenues related to market trends, 

circulation revenues fell by 3.8 % to € 350.9 million (PY: 

€ 364.7 million). The other revenues increased consider-

ably by 15.8 % to € 76.6 million (PY: € 66.1 million). This 

is predominantly due to consolidation effects caused by 

incorporation of revenues from N24 from March 2014. 

When adjusted for these effects, other revenues were 

slightly above the prior-year figure (2.3 %). 

With a value of € 90.8 million, EBITDA was 31.6 % below 

the prior-year figure (€ 132.7 million) mainly due to the 

decrease of the operational revenues as well as due to 

the partially lower margin of the newly acquired business 

and increased restructuring expenses. Compared to the 

same period last year, the segment margin fell from 

17.5 % to 12.5 %. 
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Key Figures Paid Models 2
nd

 Quarter 

 

€ millions Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Change 

External revenues 380.3 406.4 – 6.4 % 

Advertising revenues 161.8 185.4 – 12.7 %

Circulation revenues 176.6 182.7 – 3.3 %

Other revenues 41.8 38.3 9.2 %

        

National 272.6 304.9 – 10.6 % 

Advertising revenues 113.5 138.9 – 18.3 %

Circulation revenues 135.1 141.5 – 4.5 %

Other revenues 24.0 24.5 – 1.9 %

        

International 107.6 101.5 6.1 % 

Advertising revenues 48.4 46.5 4.0 %

Circulation revenues 41.5 41.2 0.7 %

Other revenues 17.7 13.8 28.9 %

        

EBITDA 50.6 75.4 – 33.0 % 

National 32.9 62.2 – 47.0 %

International 17.6 13.2 33.1 %

        

EBITDA margin 13.3 % 18.6 %   

National 12.1 % 20.4 %   

International 16.4 % 13.0 %   

 

 
Marketing Models 
The Marketing Models segment comprises all business 

models that generate revenues predominantly through 

sales to advertising customers of reach-based or per-

formance-based marketing services. 

Internet usage via mobile devices is particularly important 

for some of our digital activities. Accordingly, the mobile 

net reach values of selected portals (to the extent they 

are available) are presented in addition to stationary 

Internet usage, in the table below. 

Unique Users 

Millions 

(monthly 

average) 

Unique 

Users 

stationary
1)

Change 

yoy 

Unique 

Users 

mobile
2)
 

Change 

yoy 

aufeminin.com4) 37.25)  -3)  -   - 

idealo.de 8.3 – 9.2 %  -   - 

finanzen.net 3.5 39.8 % 0.6  56.8 %

kaufDA.de 3.1 – 11.0 % 3.5  49.4 %

hamburg.de 1.4 8.5 % 0.5  51.5 %

 

1)
 Source: AGOF internet facts 2015– 4, monthly average (Feb.-Apr. 2015).  

2)
 Source: AGOF mobile facts 2015-I, monthly average (Jan.-Mar. 2015). 

3)
 Comparison to prior-year figures not applicable.  

4)
 Incl. livingly.com (Livingly Media) 

5)
 Source: comScore World, monthly average (Apr.-Jun. 2015).  

Key Figures Marketing Models 

 

€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 Change 

External revenues 428.1 370.8 15.5 % 

Advertising revenues 340.2 307.3 10.7 %

Other revenues 88.0 63.5 38.5 %

        

Reach Based Marketing 156.7 132.6 18.2 % 

Performance Marketing 271.5 238.2 14.0 % 

        

EBITDA
1)
 48.7 55.3 – 11.9 % 

Reach Based Marketing 40.6 46.6 – 12.9 %

Performance Marketing 11.8 10.9 8.2 %

        

EBITDA margin
1)
 11.4 % 14.9 %   

Reach Based Marketing 25.9 % 35.1 %   

Performance Marketing 4.4 % 4.6 %   

1)
 Segment EBITDA includes non-allocated costs of € 3.7 million (PY: € 2.2 million). 

Total revenues in the Marketing Models segment in-

creased compared to the prior-year figure by 15.5 % to 

€ 428.1 million (PY: € 370.8 million). The increase in 

advertising revenues from 10.7 % to € 340.2 million (PY: 

€ 307.3 million) was predominantly achieved by growth 

within the Performance Marketing sector. Growth of 

other revenues by 38.5 % to € 88.0 million (PY: 

€ 63.5 million) was mainly achieved through the Reach 

Based Marketing sector. In particular, the higher reve-
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nues yielded by TV production company Talpa Germany 

and the aufeminin Group.  

Whilst EBITDA slightly improved in the Performance 

Marketing sector, results from Reach Based Marketing 

lay below the prior-year figure, which was mainly due to 

an intensified competitive environment at idealo and by 

the necessary investments in product development as 

well as by changes in the portfolio at aufeminin (amongst 

others, the sale of Smart AdServer). With a value of 

€ 48.7 million, EBITDA in the segment lay 11.9 % below 

the prior-year figure (€ 55.3 million). The EBITDA margin 

fell to 11.4 % (PY: 14.9 %). 

Key Figures Marketing Models 2
nd

 Quarter 

 

€ millions Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Change 

External revenues 209.1 182.0 14.9 % 

Advertising revenues 167.3 151.4 10.5 %

Other revenues 41.8 30.6 36.6 %

        

Reach Based Marketing 78.2 67.3 16.3 % 

Performance Marketing 130.9 114.7 14.2 % 

        

EBITDA
1)
 26.3 28.9 – 9.0 % 

Reach Based Marketing 23.1 24.3 – 4.9 %

Performance Marketing 5.2 5.7 – 8.8 %

        

EBITDA margin
1)
 12.6 % 15.9 %   

Reach Based Marketing 29.6 % 36.2 %   

Performance Marketing 4.0 % 5.0 %   

 

1)
 Segment EBITDA includes non-allocated costs of € 2.0 million (PY: € 1.1 million). 

Services/Holding 
Service and holding functions are combined under the  

Services/Holding segment. This segment also comprises 

the centralized marketing unit Media Impact, the distribu-

tion and logistical activities of the Sales Impact Group, 

and the three national printing plants of Axel Springer.  

Key Figures Services/Holding 

 

€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 Change 

External revenues 64.9 79.1 – 18.0 % 

        

EBITDA – 20.1 – 22.9   

 

External revenues in the Services/Holding segment de-

clined compared to the comparable quarter of the prior 

year due to market trends by 18.0 % and was at 

€ 64.9 million (PY: € 79.1 million). 

EBITDA improved slightly to € – 20.1 million (PY:  

€ – 22.9 million). 

Key Figures Services/Holding 2
nd

 Quarter 

 

€ millions Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Change 

External revenues 28.2 40.7 – 30.6 % 

        

EBITDA – 6.5 – 9.3   
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Financial performance of discontinued 
operations 

We reported domestic regional newspapers, TV program 

guides and women’s magazines as well as the business-

es and equity holdings of Ringier Axel Springer Media in 

the Czech Republic separately as discontinued opera-

tions. Both sales were completed on April 30, 2014. 

Discontinued Operations 

€ millions H1/2014
1)

External revenues 181.3 

    

EBITDA 29.3 

    

EBITDA margin 16.2 % 

    

Consolidated net income 674.4 

Earnings per share (in €),  

basic = diluted 6.44 

    

Consolidated net income, adjusted 20.9 

Earnings per share, adjusted (in €),  

basic = diluted 0.19 

1)
 The operating result from discontinued operations only concerns the period until the 

closing date as of April 30, 2014. 

Non-recurring effects, such as for example gains or 

losses on the sale of business divisions and investments 

and write-downs from purchase price allocations are not 

included in EBITDA. Adjusted consolidated net income 

and adjusted earnings per share are not defined under 

International Financial Reporting Standards, and should 

therefore be regarded as supplementary information to 

the consolidated financial statements. 

Liquidity 

Cash flows  
The following description of cash flows also includes 

discontinued operations in the previous year. 

Cash flow from operating activities was € 132.8 million 

during the first half-year (PY: € 125.3 million). € 21.5 million 

was attributable to discontinued operations in the prior year.  

Cash flow from investing activities involved with continu-

ing operations amounted to € – 259.3 million in the first 

half-year (PY: € – 277.9 million). The cash outflows in-

cluded therein (net of cash and cash equivalents ac-

quired) for the acquisition of shares in consolidated sub-

sidiaries and business units and for the purchase of 

financial assets, in the total amount of € 308.7 million 

(PY.: € 318.4 million), were attributable primarily to the 

acquisitions of Immowelt and @Leisure Group. Further, 

as in the prior-year period, this figure included ongoing 

investments in intangible assets and property, plant, and 

equipment, as well as the payments received in connec-

tion with the sale of 2.7 % (PY: 2.6 %) of our share in 

Do⁄an TV (€ 63.3 million; PY: € 62.5 million). Further-

more, € 748.3 million was attributable to the discontin-

ued operations in the previous year, mainly pertaining to 

the receipt of the purchase price (less the cash and cash 

equivalents transferred to the buyer) on the sale of our 

print activities in the amount of € 792.4 million, less taxes 

already paid of € 43.8 million. 

In the first half of 2015, cash flow from financing activities 

was € 22.5 million (PY: € – 429.3 million), related, as in 

the prior year, to continued activities and was mostly due 

to the payment of dividends to shareholders of Axel 

Springer SE and taking on financial liabilities (PY: clear-

ance of financial liabilities). In addition to this, there was a 

special distribution of funds in the previous year amount-

ing to € 90.7 million which related to the sale of our 

printing operations in the Czech Republic. 
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Net liquidity and financing 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased to € 285.2 million 

from a total of € 383.1 million at the end of 2014. During 

the same period financial liabilities increased from 

€ 1,050.9 million to € 1,279.0 million. We therefore re-

ported net debt of € – 993.8 million (December 31, 2014: 

€ – 667.8 million). 

As well as the Schuldschein (promissory notes) which 

mature in April 2016 (nominal value of € 56.5 million), in 

April 2018 (nominal value of € 112.0 million), in October 

2018 (nominal value of € 220.0 million) and in October 

2020 (nominal value of € 248.5 million), there is a credit 

line in the amount of € 900.0 million as of June 30, 2015, 

the utilization of which is due for repayment in Septem-

ber 2017. In order to optimize our financing conditions, 

we have improved the average interest rate of our credit 

line at the beginning of July 2015, increased the financing 

volume to € 1,200.0 million as well as extended the term 

to July 2020. Both the Schuldschein promissory note and 

the credit facility may be used either for general business 

purposes or for financing acquisitions. 

Drawdowns under the existing long-term credit facility 

amounted to € 634.0 million on June 30, 2015 (Decem-

ber 31, 2014: € 409.0 million). The total available amount 

of unutilized short-term and long-term credit facilities 

was € 286.0 million on the reporting date. (December 

31, 2014: € 511.0 million). 

Financial position 

The consolidated balance sheet was € 5,975.8 million, 

and therefore much higher than at the end of 2014 

(€ 5,557.7 million) which was largely due to acquisitions. 

The increase of intangible assets was, in particular, due 

to initial consolidation of Immowelt and the @Leisure 

Group. The development of our financial assets is char-

acterized by us exercising our put option on the sale of 

2.7 % of our equity holding in Do⁄an TV, as well as the 

acquisition of equity in Business Insider. 

 

In addition to the real estate assets reported as being 

held for sale during the prior year (including associated 

finance lease liability), the net assets (including goodwill) 

assigned to the Talpa Germany during the financial year 

were reported separately due to the expected sale of the 

remaining shares. 

Equity amounted to € 2,329.5 million and this was slightly 

lower than the result at the end of 2014 (€ 2,354.9  

million). Increasing effects from the generated consolidated 

net income as well as the effects of the currency conver-

sion of consolidated accounts were largely compensated 

by the distribution of dividends to Axel Springer sharehold-

ers. In conjunction with the consolidation of Immowelt and 

Immonet, differences were taken into account to reduce 

equity, as well as recording additional minority shares. The 

equity ratio decreased to 39.0 % (PY: 42.4 %). 

Provisions for pensions decreased due to adjustment of 

the discount rate to 2.4 % to follow the current market 

level (as of December 31, 2014: 1.9 %). Development of 

deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities resulted, in 

particular, from initial consolidation of acquired compa-

nies (including the liability for the engaged option rights). 

The increase in financial liabilities at the reporting date is 

predominantly due to acquisition activity and the com-

pleted dividend distribution. 

Axel Springer share and investor relations 

Development of the share price 
At the end of the first half of 2015, the Axel Springer 

share stood at € 47.09, 6.0 % below the value at the 

beginning of the year. At the beginning of April, the share 

price reached an all-time high at € 59.04, but the price 

gains had to be completely given up again in the second 

quarter. On the one hand, the fall in share price is at-

tributable to the dividend payment after the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting on April 14, 2015 and, on the 

other hand, the whole of the market has also declined in 

the second quarter – not least due to the debt crisis in 

Greece. In the second quarter, the benchmark indices, 

DAX, MDAX and DJ EuroStoxx Media also recorded 

declines, but were able to claim increases by the end of 

the reporting period. 
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Share Information 
      

€ H1/2015 H1/2014 Change 

Earnings per share (adjusted)1) 2) 1.09 1.12 – 2.7 %

Earnings per share1) 0.81 1.17 – 30.7 %

Closing price 47.09 44.95 4.8 %

Highest price 59.04 51.27 15.2 %

Lowest price 46.46 42.54 9.2 %

Market capitalization in € millions3) 4,659.1 4,447.4 4.8 %

Daily traded volume (Ø, in € 
thousands) 8,836.2 7,375.1 19.8 %

1)
 Continuing operations.  

2)
 Adjusted for non-recurring effects and amortization and impairments from purchase 

price allocations; on the basis of average weighted shares outstanding in the report-

ing period (98.9 million).  
3)
 Based on shares outstanding at the closing price, excluding treasury shares. 

Currently, 21 brokers publish analyses regarding the Axel 

Springer share. A total of five brokers are expressing a 

“buy” recommendation for the Axel Springer share, 14 

recommend “hold/neutral” and two analyst firms rec-

ommend “sell/underweight”. You can find the latest 

recommendations and share price targets in the Investor 

Relations section at www.axelspringer.de. 

In the first half of 2015, we participated in six investor 

conferences in New York, London, Nice, Frankfurt, Ba-

den-Baden and Berlin. Furthermore, we presented the 

company on road shows in New York, Boston, London, 

Edinburgh and Frankfurt, and conducted numerous 

meetings with investors and analysts in Berlin. 

In the period under review there were conference calls 

for investors and analysts at the publication of our annual 

report on March 4, 2015, as well as on the occasion of 

the publication of the results of the first quarter of the 

current year on May 7, 2015. As usual, both events 

could be followed directly as a live broadcast on the 

Internet. The audio recordings of these telephone con-

ferences, as well as all accompanying financial reports 

and presentations, are further available on our website. 

Information on Listing 
  

Share type Registered share with restricted 
transferability 

Stock exchange Germany (Prime Standard) 

Security Identification Number 550135, 575423 

ISIN DE0005501357, DE0005754238 

Thomson Reuters SPRGn.DE 

Bloomberg SPR GY 

 
Annual shareholders’ meeting  
The annual shareholders' meeting of Axel Springer SE took 

place in Berlin on April 14, 2015. Approximately 430  

shareholders or 74.2 % of capital carrying voting rights 

participated. All resolutions proposed by the Management 

– including the application to create authorized capital up 

to a total of € 11.0 million, and the proposal to pay a divi-

dend of € 1.80 (PY: € 1.80) per qualifying share – were 

approved by majorities of at least 91.9 %. Based on the 

closing price of the company’s share at year-end 2014,  

the dividend yield came to 3.6 %. The total dividend pay-

out was € 178.1 million. The amendment to the Articles of 

Association of Axel Springer SE, brought about by the 

creation of authorized capital, became effective with its 

entry in the commercial register at the end of April 2015. 

Performance Axel Springer Share

Axel Springer

Indexed on the year-end share price of Axel Springer SE as of December 31, 2014.

DAX MDAX DJ EuroStoxx Media
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Ongoing actions for nullification  
The shareholder Dr. Oliver Krauss has taken action for 

rescission against decisions of the annual shareholders’ 

meetings from 2009 and 2010. With respect to these 

ongoing proceedings, there have been no changes to 

the situation as presented in the Annual Report 2014. 

Employees 

Axel Springer has an average of 14,781 employees  

(PY: 13,295) (excluding vocational trainees and journal-

ism students). The 11.2 % increase over the correspond-

ing prior-year figure resulted mainly from the higher 

number of employees in Marketing Models and Classi-

fied Ad Models, due to acquisitions and organic growth 

in these segments. 

Share ownership program 
A share ownership program was offered again this year, 

to give our employees the chance to participate directly 

in the development of the company’s value. Under this 

program, all employees of Axel Springer SE and its do-

mestic subsidiaries who were eligible for a profit-sharing 

bonus, or who have entered into a target agreement for 

the year 2014, were given the chance to convert their 

bonus into shares of Axel Springer SE. Those who chose 

to do so received a subsidy from the company. The 

required holding period is four years. 

Events after the  

reporting date 
At the beginning of July 2015 we have increased the 

financing volume of our credit line from € 900.0 million to 

€ 1,200.0 million, at the same time extended the term to 

July 2020 (previously 2017) and improved the average 

interest rate (see page 14). 

Report on risks and  
opportunities 
Compared to the disclosures in the 2014 Annual Report, 

the risk and opportunities situation for Axel Springer has 

not significantly changed. No risks that could endanger 

Axel Springer’s continued operation as a going concern 

can be discerned. 

Forecast report 
General economic environment 
In July 2015, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) pre-

dicted for the full year of 2015, growth of the world 

economy of 3.3 % in real terms. Thus, the IMF remained 

slightly behind its estimate of spring 2015 (+ 3.5 % in real 

terms). It attributed the correction to the growth forecast 

to the economic downturn in the United States at the 

beginning of the year. But the IMF expects to see a 

recovery of the US economy in the course of the year, as 

the growth potential of the United States is still intact. 

The IMF also considers the economy in the Eurozone to 

be largely robust. Increasing demand is likely to lead to 

real growth of 1.5 % in the Euro states. While the eco-

nomic prospects of several European economies have 

improved, they have significantly weakened for Greece. 

Despite weaker economic momentum, emerging and 

developing countries should grow by 4.2 % when adjust-

ed for price. 

In its economic forecast for June 2015, the ifo Institute 

expects a continuation of the upswing in Germany, as 

the economic research institute expects the favorable 

conditions for the German economy to continue un-

changed. In the case of a further expansionary monetary 

policy and very good financing conditions for businesses, 

investment in new equipment is expected to grow by 3.5 % 

in real terms. Construction investment is expected to rise 

sharply by 2.0 %. The income prospects for private 

households are good due to the further improving labor 

market situation. Private consumption is likely to remain 
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an important pillar of the upturn, when adjusted for price, 

and should increase by 2.2 %. The growth in exports is 

likely to be 5.3 % in real terms. The ifo Institute expects a 

depreciation of the Euro to promote exports in the sec-

ond half of this year. Imports are likely to increase more 

quickly than exports, due to high domestic dynamism 

with a price-adjusted increase of 5.9 %. Overall, in 2015 

the ifo Institute expects a growth rate for real gross do-

mestic product of 1.9 %.  

The ifo experts expect a slight increase in consumer 

prices. However, according to forecasts, inflation dur-

ing 2015 will continue to remain extremely low at 0.8 %. 

The depreciation of the Euro in recent months has made 

imported goods and services more expensive, and in-

creased costs will most likely be passed on to the con-

sumer. The number of gainfully employed persons in 

Germany will, based on expectations, increase by an 

average of 235,000 in 2015. The unemployment rate is 

expected to decline from 6.7 % to 6.3 %.  

Anticipated Economic Development (Selection) 

Change in gross domestic product compared to prior 

year (real) 2015 

Germany 1.9 %

United Kingdom 2.1 %

France 1.0 %

Poland 3.5 %

Switzerland1) 0.8 %

Hungary 3.2 %

Belgium 0.9 %

Slovakia 2.5 %

Netherlands 1.9 %

Serbia1) – 0.5 %

Austria 0.5 %

Ireland 2.2 %

Italy 0.4 %

Spain 2.6 % 

USA 2.2 % 

Russia – 3.2 % 

Israel
1)
 3.5 % 

Brazil
1)
 – 1.0 % 

Indien 8.1 % 

China 6.9 % 

Source: ifo Institute, June 2015 
1)
 Source: IMF, April 2015.  

Overall, central and eastern European Member 

States of the EU are showing a continuation of the 

economic upswing. Particularly positive signals come 

from the Czech Republic and Hungary. The low interest 

rate policy of the central banks should have a positive 

effect on the investment dynamics in the region. The 

financial conditions have improved in many places, so 

that private domestic demand is likely to pick up further. 

Growth is also to be expected in the export sector, 

which is likely to benefit from the upturn in economic 

activity in the Eurozone, especially in Germany. 
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The Russian economy has been in crisis since the middle 

of 2014. For 2015, economic forecasters of the ifo Insti-

tute predict a decline in gross domestic product in real 

terms of 3.2 %.  

The strong appreciation of the Swiss franc is likely to 

burden the Swiss economy significantly, particularly in 

2015. The IMF expects German gross domestic product 

to increase by 0.8 % when adjusted for price. 

Industry environment 
The German Advertising Association (ZAW) assumes in 

its forecast for 2015 that if general conditions remain 

unchanged the total investment in advertising could 

expand by one percent. 

According to the current advertising market forecast by 

ZenithOptimedia (as of June 2015) an increase of 4.2 % 

is expected for 2015 worldwide (nominally). ZenithOpti-

media therefore adjusted its forecast of + 4.4 % from 

March 2015 and lowered it by 0.2 percentage points. 

The reasons include economic decline within crisis-

riddled regions such as Russia, Ukraine, and Belarus as 

well as slower growth in China. Spending should remain 

stable within the Eurozone in this case. 

Currently available forecasts for the German advertising 

industry predict mixed developments for the different 

types of media. ZenithOptimedia expects net advertising 

market revenue in Germany for 2015 to increase by 2.2 % 

(nominal). Thus, the total advertising market will not grow 

as fast as the general economy (according to the ifo 

Institut), which is expected to expand at a nominal rate of 

3.9 % (+ 1.9 % in real terms). This growth is driven by the 

digital media (+ 11.0 %), TV (+ 3.2 %) and Outdoor 

(+ 2.7 %). Radio expects an increase in net advertising 

revenues of + 1.0 %. ZenithOptimedia is predicting a 

drop in net advertising revenues for newspapers (– 3.6 %) 

and magazines (– 3.1 %).  

The forecast data also reflects the structural shift of 

advertising expenditures in favor of digital platforms. The 

proportion of total advertising expenditures targeted to 

online and mobile platforms will rise further. In Germany, 

according to ZenithOptimedia, advertising revenues for 

online should exceed those for newspapers this year for 

the first time.  

According to ZenithOptimedia, mobile and online moving 

images (video) are current drivers of development in the 

advertising market. Due to the continued spread of mo-

bile devices, improvements in advertising forms and 

variety, and technical innovations in controlling multi-

device campaigns, considerable growth in advertising 

expenditure is expected. Nevertheless, investments are 

not yet in any relation to mobile usage.  

Progressive automation of an advertising booking via 

programmatic buying platforms is also seen as a driver 

for online and mobile advertising.  

ZenithOptimedia’s forecast for the international mar-

kets in which Axel Springer conducts business through 

its own subsidiaries paints a mixed picture. According to 

the forecast by ZenithOptimedia in 2015 the net advertis-

ing volume on the online market in Western Europe will 

increase by 11.1 % to US$ 36.5 billion, based on the 

assumption of consistent exchange rates. 
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Anticipated Advertising Activity 2015 (Selection) 

 

Change in net ad revenues compared 

to prior year (nominal) Online Print 

Germany 11.0 % – 3.4 %

United Kingdom 13.1 % – 6.5 %

France1) 4.8 % – 8.1 %

Poland1) 10.7 % – 16.7 %

Switzerland2) 14.2 % – 6.0 %

Hungary 7.7 % – 2.0 %

Belgium2) 10.0 % – 1.7 %

Slovakia1) 17.6 % – 3.6 %

Netherlands 10.8 % – 4.4 %

Serbia1) 12.5 % 8.5 %

Austria1) 13.2 % – 4.8 %

Ireland 20.9 % – 6.2 %

Italy
1)
 7.0 % – 3.7 % 

Spain
1)
 10.0 % 1.1 % 

USA 18.2 % – 4.7 % 

Russia 5.0 % – 35.0 % 

Israel 4.9 % 0.7 % 

India 30.0 % 12.6 % 

Brazil 8.0 % – 7.3 %

Source: ZenithOptimedia, Advertising Expenditure Forecast (June 2015). 
1)
 Excluding Classified ads.  

2)
 Gross advertising revenues (excluding classified ads). Gross advertising revenues 

do not adequately reflect the true development of advertising revenues. 

Axel Springer 
The forecast issued along with the presentation of the 

2014 Annual Report on March 4, 2015, remains valid. 

Strategic orientation 

The highest strategic priority for Axel Springer is to pur-

sue the consistent digitization of our business. We aim to 

attain the goal of becoming the leading digital publisher 

by further developing our digital offerings in Germany and 

abroad, and by making targeted acquisitions. 

Anticipated business developments and financial perfor-

mance of the Group 

We anticipate in the Group that total revenues will be 

higher for the 2015 financial year than the prior-year 

figure by an amount in the low to mid single-digit per-

centage range. We assume that the planned increase in 

advertising revenues will more than compensate for the 

decline in circulation revenues and other revenues.  

We expect EBITDA to rise by an amount in the high 

single-digit percentage range. In this case, a rise in 

EBITDA within the Classified Ad Models and Ser-

vices/Holding is expected, whilst the Paid Models and 

the Marketing Models should achieve an EBITDA that is 

below that of the level of the previous year.  

For EBIT, we expect developments to be similar to those 

for EBITDA. 

For the adjusted earnings per share we expect, due 

to a lower proportion of the adjusted consolidated net 

income that is due for minorities, an increase in the low 

double-digit percentage range compared to the prior-

year figure. 

Anticipated business developments and financial perfor-

mance of the segments 

The revenues of the Classified Ad Models segment are 

expected to rise considerably due to organic growth and 

consolidation effects. A marked increase is also ex-

pected for EBITDA.  

In the Paid Models segment we expect a decline in total 

revenues in the low single-digit percentage range for the 

2015 financial year. Due to structural shifts in the national 

and international print business we expect declining 

advertising and circulation revenues. We expect an in-

crease in other revenues. We expect a decline in EDITDA 

in the low double-digit percentage range due to planned 

investments into product quality and also into digitization. 

We have altered our expectations for the total revenues 

of the Marketing Models segment in comparison with 

the forecast published in March. We expect the revenue 

for this segment to increase by an amount in the mid to 

high single-digit percentage range after a better than 

expected development in the Performance Marketing 

area in the first half-year, whereas previously an increase 

in the low to mid single-digit percentage range had been 

expected. Up until now, we had also expected EBITDA 
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to decrease below the level of the previous year in a mid 

to high single-digit percentage range due to, amongst 

other things, planned expenditure for increasing com-

petitiveness, and internationalization of digital business 

models within the field of Reach Based Marketing. How-

ever, we are now expecting a low double-digit to signifi-

cant decrease in EBITDA, especially due to changes in 

the portfolio. 

Due to falling print revenues and lower revenues from 

services in connection with the sale of activities to  

FUNKE Mediengruppe, we expect a considerable fall in 

revenues for the Services/Holding segment, which 

should result in considerably improved EBITDA figures due 

to lower expenses for structural adjustments and positive 

special items such as further payments as a result of the 

insolvency proceedings against the Kirch Group.  

For EBIT, we expect developments to be similar to those 

for EBITDA. 

Anticipated liquidity and financial position 

Based on the capital expenditure projects planned to 

date, investments in property, plant, and equipment, and 

intangible assets are likely to be higher than the corre-

sponding prior-year figure with regards to the liquidity 

and financial position. Financing will be provided by 

operating cash flow. 

Dividend policy 

Subject to the condition of sound financial performance 

in the future, Axel Springer will pursue a dividend policy 

of stable or slightly increased dividend distribution, while 

also allowing for the financing of growth. 

Anticipated development of the workforce 

The average full-year number of employees in 2015 will 

be higher than in the prior year. This is mainly due to 

organic growth and acquisitions in connection with the 

digital transformation of the Group’s business. 

Planning assumptions 

We plan the future development of the financial perfor-

mance, liquidity, and financial position on the basis of 

assumptions that are plausible and sufficiently probable 

from today’s perspective. However, actual developments 

could possibly be much different from the assumptions 

applied and thus from the business plans and trend 

forecasts prepared on the basis of those assumptions 

The forecasts for EBITDA, EBIT, and the adjusted earn-

ings per share do not reflect any possible effects result-

ing from possible future acquisitions, divestitures, and 

capital measures as well as from unplanned restructuring 

expenses.  

EBITDA, EBIT, and the adjusted earnings per share do 

not contain any non-recurring effects, any write-downs 

from purchase price allocations, nor any associated tax 

effects. Non-recurring effects are defined as effects 

resulting from the acquisition and sale of subsidiaries, 

divisions, and equity investments, as well as write-downs 

and write-ups of equity investments, effects resulting 

from the sale of real estate, impairments, and write-ups 

of real estate used for operational purposes. Purchase 

price allocation write-downs include the expenses of 

amortization, depreciation, and impairments of intangible 

assets, and property, plant, and equipment acquired in 

connection with the acquisition of companies and busi-

ness divisions. 

We consider EBITDA, EBIT, and adjusted earnings per 

share to be suitable indicators for measuring the opera-

tional profitability of Axel Springer, because these indica-

tors ignore effects that do not reflect the fundamental 

business performance of Axel Springer. 

EBITDA, EBIT, and adjusted earnings per share are not 

defined under International Financial Reporting Stand-

ards and should therefore be regarded as supplementary 

information.  
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€ millions     

ASSETS 06/30/2015 12/31/2014 

Non-current assets 4,823.8 4,315.8 

Intangible assets 3,540.3 3,018.3 

Property, plant, and equipment 520.8 523.5 

Investment property 32.9 31.3 

Non-current financial assets 620.5 633.2 

Investments accounted for using the equity method 61.1 51.2 

Other non-current financial assets 559.3 582.0 

Receivables due from related parties 28.8 30.9 

Receivables from income taxes 15.7 15.6 

Other assets 7.9 8.5 

Deferred tax assets 57.1 54.4 

Current assets 1,151.9 1,241.9 

Inventories 19.1 23.6 

Trade receivables 507.5 523.8 

Receivables due from related parties 10.4 12.7 

Receivables from income taxes 68.5 46.7 

Other assets 136.0 156.1 

Cash and cash equivalents 285.2 383.1 

Assets held for sale 125.3 95.9 

Total assets 5,975.8 5,557.7 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
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€ millions     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 06/30/2015 12/31/2014 

Equity 2,329.5 2,354.9 

Shareholders of Axel Springer SE 1,867.0 2,004.2 

Non-controlling interests 462.5 350.8 

Non-current provisions and liabilities 2,377.0 2,169.6 

Provisions for pensions 338.9 376.6 

Other provisions 74.3 76.7 

Financial liabilities 1,215.5 1,047.0 

Trade payables 0.3 0.3 

Liabilities due to related parties 2.8 7.7 

Other liabilities 318.2 333.3 

Deferred tax liabilities 427.0 327.9 

Current provisions and liabilities 1,269.3 1,033.2 

Provisions for pensions 22.3 23.1 

Other provisions 168.9 209.6 

Financial liabilities 63.4 3.9 

Trade payables 301.3 313.2 

Liabilities due to related parties 14.7 9.2 

Liabilities from income taxes 18.2 40.4 

Other liabilities 603.6 365.8 

Liabilities related to assets held for sale 76.9 68.0 

Total equity and liabilities 5,975.8 5,557.7 
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€ millions         

Consolidated Income Statement Q2/2015 Q2/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 

Revenues 796.7 744.4 1,577.3 1,436.8 

Other operating income 28.1 47.9 62.0 77.4 

Change in inventories and internal costs capitalized 11.8 5.6 16.0 8.4 

Purchased goods and services – 238.9 – 234.4 – 489.1 – 461.6 

Personnel expenses – 262.9 – 238.6 – 523.8 – 463.6 

Depreciation, amortization, and impairments – 48.0 – 44.5 – 92.3 – 83.6 

Other operating expenses – 189.2 – 181.6 – 377.6 – 337.9 

Income from investments 6.2 11.3 5.2 28.4 

Result from investments accounted for using the equity method – 1.9 0.2 – 3.5 – 0.4 

Other investment income 8.1 11.1 8.7 28.8 

Financial result – 1.9 – 3.1 – 14.5 – 10.3 

Income taxes – 33.9 – 31.1 – 52.1 – 52.3 

Income from continued operations 68.0 76.0 111.0 141.6 

Income from discontinued operations 0.0 658.8 0.0 674.4 

Net income 68.0 734.7 111.0 815.9 

Net income attributable to shareholders of Axel Springer SE 48.8 681.6 80.3 752.6 

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 19.3 53.1 30.7 63.4 

Basic/diluted earnings per share (in €) from continued operations 0.49 0.59 0.81 1.17 

Basic/diluted earnings per share (in €) from discontinued operations 0.00 6.30 0.00 6.44 

 

€ millions         

Consolidated Statement of Recognized Income and Expenses Q2/2015 Q2/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 

Net income 68.0 734.7 111.0 815.9 

Actuarial gains/losses from defined benefit pension obligations 35.7 – 10.5 23.3 – 11.0 

Items that may not be reclassified into the income statement in future periods 35.7 – 10.5 23.3 – 11.0 

Currency translation differences – 6.5 6.6 90.9 12.7 

Changes in fair value and realisation of gains and losses in connection with available-for-sale 
financial assets – 0.1 14.1 0.0 31.6 

Changes in fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges – 0.9 0.3 0.1 0.2 

Other income/loss from investments accounted for using the equity method – 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.0 

Items that may be reclassified into the income statement in future periods if certain 
criteria are met – 7.6 21.1 91.4 44.5 

Other income/loss 28.1 10.7 114.7 33.5 

Comprehensive income 96.1 745.4 225.7 849.4 

Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of Axel Springer SE 79.6 683.1 182.3 772.2 

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 16.5 62.3 43.4 77.3 

 

Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income 
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€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 

Net income 111.0 815.9 

Reconciliation of net income to the cash flow from operating activities     

Depreciation, amortization, impairments, and write-ups 89.8 77.9 

Result from investments accounted for using the equity method 3.5 0.4 

Dividends received from investments accounted for using the equity method 0.0 3.0 

Result from disposal of consolidated subsidiaries and business units and intangible assets, property, plant, and 
equipment, and financial assets – 10.1 – 692.7 

Changes in non-current provisions – 2.6 4.0 

Changes in deferred taxes 2.0 – 22.3 

Other non-cash income and expenses – 2.6 1.6 

Changes in trade receivables 16.6 23.6 

Changes in trade payables – 23.9 – 28.4 

Changes in other assets and liabilities – 51.0 – 36.1 

Cash flow from operating activities
1)
 132.8 146.9 

Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets, property, plant, and equipment, and investment property 10.1 0.1 

Proceeds from disposals of consolidated subsidiaries and business units, less cash and cash equivalents given up 30.1 749.6 

Proceeds from disposals of non-current financial assets 65.3 82.4 

Purchases of intangible assets, property, plant, equipment, and investment property – 56.0 – 43.4 

Purchases of shares in consolidated subsidiaries and business units less cash and cash equivalents acquired – 269.9 – 289.5 

Purchases of investments in non-current financial assets – 38.8 – 28.8 

Cash flow from investing activities
1)
 – 259.3 470.4 

Dividends paid to shareholders of Axel Springer SE – 178.1 – 178.1 

Dividends paid to other shareholders – 4.5 – 97.5 

Purchase of non-controlling interests – 23.0 0.0 

Disposal of non-controlling interests 0.2 0.0 

Issuance of treasury shares 0.1 0.0 

Repayments of liabilities under finance leases – 0.3 – 0.3 

Proceeds from other financial liabilities 312.8 20.2 

Repayments of other financial liabilities – 84.7 – 170.3 

Other financial transactions 0.0 – 3.2 

Cash flow from financing activities
1)
 22.5 – 429.3 

Cash flow-related changes in cash and cash equivalents – 104.0 187.9 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to exchange rates 6.6 0.9 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in companies included in consolidation – 0.2 0.0 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 383.1 248.6 

Changes to cash and cash equivalents in connection with assets held for sale – 0.4 27.6 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 285.2 465.0 

1)
 For the portion attributable to discontinued operations see notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
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€ millions 

Sub-
scribed 
capital 

Ad-
ditional 
paid-in 
capital 

Accumu-
lated 

retained 
earnings 

Treasury 
shares 

Accumulated other comprehensive income 

Share-
holders 
of Axel 

Springer 
SE 

Non-
con-

trolling 
inter-
ests Equity 

Currency 
trans-
lation 

Changes in fair value 

Other 
equity 

Available-
for-sale 
financial 
assets 

Deriva-
tives in 

cash flow 
hedges 

Balance as of 01/01/2014 98.9 44.2 1,781.6 0.0  – 3.7 9.4 – 0.3 – 60.3 1,869.9 374.1 2,244.0 

Net income     752.6           752.6 63.4 815.9 

Other income/loss         8.4 22.1 0.1 – 11.0 19.6 13.9 33.5 

Comprehensive income     752.6   8.4 22.1 0.1 – 11.0 772.2 77.3 849.4 

Dividends paid     – 178.1           – 178.1 – 10.5 – 188.6 

Other changes   0.4 – 2.2           – 1.7 0.4 – 1.3 

Balance as of 06/30/2014 98.9 44.6 2,353.9 0.0 4.7 31.5 – 0.2 – 71.3 2,462.1 441.2 2,903.3 

                        

Balance as of 01/01/2015 98.9 45.3 2,021.3 0.0 – 28.5 0.3 – 0.4 – 132.9 2,004.2 350.8 2,354.9 

Net income     80.3           80.3 30.7 111.0 

Other income/loss         78.1  0.1 23.8 102.0 12.7 114.7 

Comprehensive income     80.3   78.1  0.1 23.8 182.3 43.4 225.7 

Dividends paid     – 178.1           – 178.1 – 4.3 – 182.4 

Issuance of treasury shares      0.1         0.1   0.1 

Change in consolidated companies     – 124.2           – 124.2 74.4 – 49.9 

Purchase and disposal of non-
controlling interests     – 14.0           – 14.0 – 6.3 – 20.4 

Other changes   0.3 – 3.5           – 3.2 4.6 1.4 

Balance as of 06/30/2015 98.9 45.6 1,781.8 0.1 49.6 0.3 – 0.3 – 109.1 1,867.0 462.5 2,329.5 

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
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Operating segments 
                  

  Classified Ad Models Paid Models Marketing Models Services/Holding Consolidated totals 

€ millions Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Q2/2015 Q2/2014 

External revenues 179.2 115.4 380.3 406.4 209.1 182.0 28.2 40.7 796.7 744.4 

Internal revenues 0.1 0.1 1.4 2.4 3.2 1.5 44.4 48.6     

Segment revenues 179.3 115.5 381.6 408.8 212.3 183.4 72.6 89.2     

EBITDA
1)
 76.6 52.7 50.6 75.4 26.3 28.9 – 6.5 – 9.3 147.0 147.8 

EBITDA margin
1)
 42.8% 45.7% 13.3% 18.6% 12.6% 15.9%     18.4% 19.9% 

Thereof income from 
investments – 0.3 – 0.3 0.1 1.1 3.7 3.8 1.7 2.0 5.1 6.6 

Thereof accounted for 
using the equity method – 0.3 – 0.3 0.1 1.1 – 1.7 – 0.6 0.0 0.0 – 1.9 0.2 

Depreciation, amortiza-
tion, impairments and 
write-ups (except from 
non-recurring effects and 
purchase price 
allocations) – 6.4 – 4.1 – 8.0 – 8.3 – 3.2 – 2.8 – 9.8 – 10.3 – 27.4 – 25.5 

EBIT 
2)
 70.2 48.7 42.5 67.1 23.1 26.1 – 16.3 – 19.6 119.5 122.3 

Amortization and 
impairments from 
purchase price 
allocations – 13.3 – 8.2 – 4.9 – 6.0 – 2.4 – 3.3 0.0 0.0 – 20.6 – 17.5 

Non-recurring effects – 7.2 – 4.2 4.3 – 4.8 8.2 14.5 – 0.5 0.0 4.9 5.4 

Segment earnings before 
interest and taxes 49.7 36.2 42.0 56.3 28.9 37.3 – 16.8 – 19.6 103.8 110.2 

Financial result                 – 1.9 – 3.1 

Income taxes                 – 33.9 – 31.1 

Income from continued 
operations                 68.0 76.0 

Income from 
discontinued operations                 0.0 658.8 

Net income                 68.0 734.7 

1)
 Adjusted for non-recurring effects. 

2)
 Adjusted for non-recurring effects and amortization and impairments from purchase price allocations. 

 

 

 

Geographical information 
            

  
Germany Other countries Consolidated totals 

€ millions Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Q2/2015 Q2/2014 Q2/2015 Q2/2014 

External revenues 413.1 431.4 383.6 313.0 796.7 744.4 

 

Consolidated Segment Report 
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Operating segments 
                  

  Classified Ad Models Paid Models Marketing Models Services/Holding Consolidated totals 

€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 

External revenues 355.3 226.6 728.9 760.2 428.1 370.8 64.9 79.1 1,577.3 1,436.8 

Internal revenues 0.2 0.1 3.2 4.7 4.7 2.7 98.3 95.6     

Segment revenues 355.5 226.7 732.1 764.9 432.9 373.6 163.2 174.7     

EBITDA
1)
 147.3 101.0 90.8 132.7 48.7 55.3 – 20.1 – 22.9 266.7 266.1 

EBITDA margin
1)
 41.5% 44.5% 12.5% 17.5% 11.4% 14.9%     16.9% 18.5% 

Thereof income from 
investments – 0.6 – 0.6 0.9 1.9 1.9 4.1 2.0 2.3 4.1 7.6 

Thereof accounted for 
using the equity method – 0.6 – 0.7 0.8 1.8 – 3.7 – 1.6 0.0 0.0 – 3.5 – 0.4 

Depreciation, amortiza-
tion, impairments and 
write-ups (except from 
non-recurring effects and 
purchase price 
allocations) – 12.8 – 8.1 – 15.9 – 15.5 – 6.1 – 5.4 – 17.1 – 16.0 – 51.9 – 44.9 

EBIT 
2)
 134.5 92.9 74.9 117.2 42.6 50.0 – 37.2 – 38.9 214.8 221.2 

Amortization and 
impairments from 
purchase price 
allocations – 24.0 – 16.4 – 9.2 – 10.0 – 4.6 – 5.9 0.0 0.0 – 37.9 – 32.4 

Non-recurring effects – 5.8 – 6.0 5.3 – 8.6 5.5 30.0 – 4.4 0.0 0.7 15.4 

Segment earnings before 
interest and taxes 104.7 70.5 71.0 98.7 43.5 74.0 – 41.6 – 38.9 177.6 204.2 

Financial result                 – 14.5 – 10.3 

Income taxes                 – 52.1 – 52.3 

Income from continued 
operations                 111.0 141.6 

Income from 
discontinued operations                 0.0 674.4 

Net income                 111.0 815.9 

1)
 Adjusted for non-recurring effects. 

2)
 Adjusted for non-recurring effects and amortization and impairments from purchase price allocations. 

 

 

Geographical information 

            

  
Germany Other countries Consolidated totals 

€ millions H1/2015 H1/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 H1/2015 H1/2014 

External revenues 823.5 827.1 753.9 609.7 1,577.3 1,436.8 
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General information 

Axel Springer SE is an exchange-listed stock corporation 

with its registered head office in Berlin, Germany. 

The interim financial report of Axel Springer SE as of 

June 30, 2015, fulfils the requirements of the German 

Securities Trading Act (WpHG). The consolidated interim 

financial statements were prepared in condensed form in 

conformity with the regulations of IAS 34, and by appli-

cation of Section 315a HGB in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the 

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 

interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee 

(IFRS IC) approved by the IASB, in effect and recognized 

by the European Union (EU) as of the reporting date and 

applicable to interim financial reporting. The reporting 

currency is the Euro (€); unless otherwise indicated, all 

figures are stated in million Euros (€ millions). Totals and 

percentages have been calculated based on the Euro 

amounts before rounding and may differ from a calcula-

tion based on the reported million Euro amounts. 

The accounting and valuation methods and the estima-

tion methods applied in the interim financial statements 

as of June 30, 2015, are basically the same as those 

applied in the consolidated financial statements as of 

December 31, 2014. A detailed description of these 

methods has been published in the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements for 2014. 

Companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements 

The following changes in the composition of the compa-

nies included in the consolidated financial statements 

occurred: 

  06/30/2015 12/31/2014 

Fully consolidated companies     

Germany 72 67 

Other countries 98 92 

Investments accounted for using the 
equity method     

Germany 6 5 

Other countries 5 5 

 

The changes arose mainly from the ensuing circum-

stances: 

At the beginning of January, we acquired 51 % of the 

shares in @Leisure Group, Amsterdam, Netherlands. As 

a consequence of this acquisition, @Leisure Holding 

B.V., Amsterdam, Netherlands, and four further foreign 

entities as well as two domestic entities were fully con-

solidated since the acquisition date. 

Since the beginning of January, Axel Springer Plug and 

Play Accelerator GmbH, Berlin, has been included in our 

consolidated financial statements as a joint venture 

company using the equity method. 

At the beginning of January, we acquired 100 % of the 

shares in ictjob SPRL, Waterloo, Belgium and have fully 

consolidated the company since the acquisition date. 

In February, we acquired 100 % of the shares in Topic 

Travel B.V., The Hague, Netherlands, and 100 % of the 

shares in Livingly Media Inc., San Carlos, USA. We have 

fully consolidated the two companies since then. 

In April, we acquired 100 % of the shares in profes-

sion.hu Kft., Budapest, Hungary, and have fully consoli-

dated the company since then. 

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
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We increased our share in Sokoweb Technologies S.L., 

Barcelona, Spain, from 31.2 % to 63.6 % in April and 

have included this company as a fully consolidated sub-

sidiary in our consolidated financial statements since 

then. 

At the end of April, we sold all of our shares in Smart 

AdServer, Paris, France. 

In the course of the combining of the Immowelt Group 

and the Immonet Group, we acquired 55 % of the 

shares in Immowelt Group, Nuremberg, at the end of 

June. As a consequence of the transaction, we have fully 

consolidated two domestic companies for the first time. 

Acquisitions and divestitures 

At the beginning of January, we acquired 51 % of the 

shares in @Leisure Holding B.V., Amsterdam, Nether-

lands and thus of the @Leisure Group. @Leisure is a 

leading European operator of online brokerage portals 

for vacation home rentals. Through the majority invest-

ment in @Leisure, Axel Springer complements its existing 

digital activities in the travel segment. 

 

The acquisition costs paid in the reporting period 

amounted to € 64.8 million and comprised the purchase 

price amounting to € 56.8 million as well as the payment 

of liabilities assumed in the amount of € 8.0 million. The 

acquisition-related expenses recorded in other operating 

expenses of the fiscal year amounted to € 0.3 million. 

 

Based on the preliminary purchase price allocation, the 

preliminary acquisition costs were allocated to the pur-

chased assets and liabilities at the acquisition date as 

follows: 

 

€ millions 

Carrying 
amount 

after 
acquisition 

Intangible assets 84.4 

Property, plant, and equipment 1.0 

Non-current financial assets 0.2 

Trade receivables 16.1 

Other assets 1.7 

Cash and cash equivalents 2.5 

Trade payables – 18.5 

Provisions and other liabilities – 4.1 

Deferred tax liabilities – 25.0 

Net assets 58.3 

Share of non-controlling interests in net assets 24.9 

Acquisition cost 64.8 

Goodwill (preliminary) 31.3 

 

The purchase price allocation considers all subsequent 

events related to the acquisition date and has not yet 

been completed because the acquisition occurred short-

ly before the publication of this interim report. 

 

Of the intangible assets acquired, intangible assets with 

carrying amounts of € 49.8 million have indefinite useful 

lives. The non-tax-deductible goodwill is above all at-

tributable to inseparable values such as employee exper-

tise, the strategic advantages resulting from the leading 

market position of the acquired group and expected 

synergy effects from the integration, and was allocated 

to the Classified Ad Models segment. 

 

The gross amount of the acquired trade account receiv-

ables was € 16.5 million. Corresponding valuation allow-

ances in the amount of € 0.4 million were recorded. 

 

Since first inclusion as of the beginning of January, 

@Leisure Group contributed to consolidated revenues in 

the amount of € 27.4 million and to consolidated net 

income in the amount of € 4.3 million. 

 

At the end of June, the combining of the Immowelt 

Group and the Immonet Group belonging to Axel 

Springer Digital Classifieds was finalized. Both real estate 
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portals will be brought under the auspices of the new 

Immowelt Holding AG company. Axel Springer Digital 

Classifieds will have a shareholding of 55 % in the Im-

mowelt Group. 

 

The preliminary acquisition costs for the majority share-

holding in the Immowelt Group amounted to € 192.7 

million and comprised the purchase price paid in the 

reporting period in the amount of € 131.0 million, an 

outstanding purchase price adjustment of € –3.6 million, 

and the fair value of 45 % of the shares in the Immonet 

Group given in exchange totaling € 65.3 million. As a 

result of giving the shares in the Immonet Group in ex-

change, and taking into account their fair value as well as 

the recognition of non-controlling interests in the amount 

of € 16.4 million, a resulting difference of € 48.8 million 

was directly offset against equity, thereof € 7.3 million 

being attributed to non-controlling interests. The acquisi-

tion-related expenses recorded in other operating ex-

penses of the fiscal year amounted to € 0.8 million. 

 

The non-controlling shareholders were granted fixed-

price put options exercisable at any time until the begin-

ning of 2018 (for 35 % of the shares), as well as one-time 

in mid-2019 exercisable put options at performance-

based prices (for 10 % of the shares), which do not 

concede any present ownership interest. Thus, the obli-

gation recorded within the balance sheet item other 

liabilities representing the discounted redemption amount 

with a value of € 194.6 million was directly offset against 

equity, thereof € 29.2 million attributed to non-controlling 

interests. The changes in equity stemming from the 

transaction are shown within the consolidated statement 

of changes in equity as part of the line change in consol-

idated companies. 

 

Based on the preliminary purchase price allocation, the 

preliminary acquisition costs were allocated to the pur-

chased assets and liabilities at the acquisition date as 

follows: 

 

€ millions 

Carrying 
amount 

after 
acquisition 

Intangible assets 165.4 

Property, plant, and equipment 0.4 

Non-current financial assets 0.1 

Trade receivables 2.0 

Other assets 0.5 

Cash and cash equivalents 9.7 

Trade payables – 0.8 

Provisions and other liabilities – 3.2 

Deferred tax liabilities – 52.0 

Net assets 122.0 

Share of non-controlling interests in net assets 54.9 

Acquisition cost (preliminary) 192.7 

Goodwill (preliminary) 125.5 

 

The purchase price allocation considers all subsequent 

events related to the acquisition date and has not yet 

been completed because the acquisition occurred short-

ly before the publication of this interim report. 

 

Of the intangible assets acquired, intangible assets with 

carrying amounts of € 57.7 million have indefinite useful 

lives. The non-tax-deductible goodwill is above all at-

tributable to inseparable values such as employee exper-

tise, expected synergy effects from the integration and 

the strategical advantages of the new market position, 

and was allocated to the Classified Ad Models segment. 

 

The gross amount of the acquired trade account receiv-

ables was € 2.2 million. Corresponding valuation allow-

ances in the amount of € 0.2 million were recorded. If 

Immowelt Group had already been fully consolidated at 

January 1, 2015, Immowelt Group would have contribut-

ed to consolidated revenues in the amount of 

€ 23.1 million and to consolidated net income in the 

amount of € 1.8 million. 

 

Further business combinations that occurred in the 

reporting period related to the acquisitions of 100 % of 

the shares in ictjob SPRL, Waterloo, Belgium, Interactive 

Junction Holding Pty. Ltd., Johannesburg, South Africa, 
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Topic Travel B.V., The Hague, Netherlands, Nasza Klasa 

sp. z o.o., Wroclaw, Poland, Livingly Media, Inc., San 

Carlos, USA, Profession.hu Kft., Budapest, Hungary, as 

well as a further 32.4 % of the shares in Sokoweb Tech-

nologies, S.L., Barcelona, Spain. Additionally, the acqui-

sition of 100% of the shares in PRAXIS SARL, Chambéry, 

France, was finalized in July. The acquisitions were car-

ried out in the context of our strategy to become the 

leading digital publisher, and individually had no material 

effects on the financial position, liquidity, and financial 

performance of the Axel Springer Group. 

The acquisition costs for the acquisitions – which are 

partly preliminary – finalized in the reporting period 

amounted to € 93.3 million and contained besides the 

purchase prices paid also contingent considerations 

totaling € 15.9 million. The acquisition-related expenses 

recorded in other operating expenses of the fiscal year 

amounted to € 0.5 million. 

The contingent considerations resulted from earn-out 

agreements as well as from option rights to purchase the 

remaining shares and were recorded at fair value at the 

acquisition date. The fair value predominantly depends 

on the estimated results of the acquired companies in 

the years prior to possible payment or exercise dates. 

Based on the purchase price allocations, which are 

partly preliminary, the cumulative acquisition costs were 

allocated to the purchased assets and liabilities at the 

respective acquisition dates as follows: 

€ millions 

Carrying 
amount 

after 
acquisition 

Intangible assets 38.7 

Property, plant, and equipment 0.7 

Trade receivables 10.5 

Other assets 0.8 

Deferred tax assets 0.5 

Cash and cash equivalents 7.2 

Trade payables – 6.9 

Financial liabilities – 0.2 

Provisions and liabilities – 4.5 

Deferred tax liabilities – 9.4 

Net assets 37.3 

Acquisition cost (preliminary) 93.3 

Goodwill (preliminary) 56.0 

 

The purchase price allocations consider all subsequent 

events related to the acquisition date and have not yet 

been completed for some acquisitions because of their 

occurrence shortly before the publication of this interim 

report. 

Of the intangible assets acquired, intangible assets with 

carrying amounts of € 19.1 million have indefinite useful 

lives. The non-tax-deductible goodwills are above all 

attributable to inseparable values such as employee 

expertise and expected synergy effects from the integra-

tion, and were allocated to the Marketing Models 

(€ 33.5 million), Classified Ad Models (€ 13.3 million) and 

Paid Models (€ 9.2 million) segments. 

Since their respective initial consolidations, these com-

panies contributed to consolidated revenues 2015 in the 

amount of € 13.3 million and to consolidated net income 

2015 in the amount of € 0.2 million. If these acquisitions 

had already been finalized at January 1, 2015, consoli-

dated revenues would have increased by € 19.2 million 

and, consolidated net income by € 0.6 million. 

In April, aufeminin Group finalized the sale of 100 % of its 

shares in Smart AdServer, Paris, France, at a disposal 
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price totaling € 37 million. The gain on disposal recorded 

in other operating income amounted to € 10.2 million. 

The following table shows the carrying amounts of the 

assets and liabilities disposed of: 

 

€ millions 
Carrying 
amount 

Goodwill 20.1 

Intangible assets 1.3 

Property, plant, and equipment 0.4 

Non-current financial assets 0.2 

Trade receivables 5.4 

Other assets 3.4 

Deferred tax assets 0.1 

Cash and cash equivalents 3.9 

Trade payables – 3.6 

Provisions and liabilities – 4.4 

Disposal net assets 26.8 

Selling price 37.0 

Gain on disposal 10.2 

 

Additional transactions carried out in the reporting period 

had no material effects individually and collectively on the 

financial position, liquidity, and financial performance of 

the Axel Springer Group. 

 

Discontinued operations 

In the previous year, the German regional newspapers, TV 

program guides, and women’s magazines as well as the 

business activities and investments held by Ringier Axel 

Springer Media in the Czech Republic, were shown sepa-

rately as discontinued operations. 

The sale of the Group’s German regional newspapers, 

TV program guides, and women’s magazines to FUNKE 

Mediengruppe was finalized on April 30, 2014, with 

economic effect as of January 1, 2014. Before the con-

tractually agreed purchase price adjustment the pur-

chase price was € 920 million. Upon finalization of the 

purchase agreement and taking into account a purchase 

price adjustment, a purchase price of € 876.5 million 

was calculated. This calculation reflected the circum-

stance, among others, that the buyer assumed net liabili-

ties as part of the transaction. Of the purchase price, an 

amount of € 632.9 million was paid in cash; for the bal-

ance, FUNKE Mediengruppe assumed a multi-year, 

subordinated loan obligation vis-à-vis Axel Springer SE in 

the amount of € 243.6 million. In connection with the 

disposal, the tax burden amounted to € 248.3 million. 

In order to fulfill a proviso imposed in connection with 

merger control law, FUNKE Mediengruppe sold some of 

the TV program guides acquired under the transaction, 

as well as some of its own TV program guides, to a 

company of Klambt Mediengruppe. To assist in the 

financing of this acquisition, Axel Springer SE guaranteed 

a bank loan taken out by this company of Klambt Me-

diengruppe, up to an amount of € 51.0  million (value as 

of June 30, 2015: € 38.4 million). 

 

In addition, Ringier Axel Springer Media AG has sold its 

business activities and investments in the Czech Repub-

lic to two Czech entrepreneurs effective with approval 

from the Czech cartel authorities on April 30, 2014. 

These activities included the leading mass-circulation 

daily BLESK and the leading news magazine REFLEX, as 

well as automotive magazines and women’s magazines. 

The purchase price that was based on a company value 

of € 170 million amounted to € 196.5 million taking into 

account particularly the net assets transferred to the 

buyer. 

 

The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities dis-

posed of, as well as the gain on disposal as of 

June 30, 2014 were as follows: 
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€ millions 
Carrying 
amount 

Goodwill 41.1 

Other intangible assets 86.2 

Property, plant, and equipment 21.5 

Non-current financial assets 5.9 

Deferred tax assets 3.2 

Inventories 1.7 

Trade receivables 13.2 

Other assets 15.1 

Cash and cash equivalents 38.1 

Provisions for pensions – 17.2 

Other provisions – 6.4 

Trade payables – 8.5 

Other liabilities – 40.5 

Deferred tax liabilities – 18.0 

Disposal net assets 135.3 

Cumulative translation differences 6.6 

Net realizable value 1,047.0 

Gain on disposal before taxes 905.1 

Income taxes – 251.6 

Gain on disposal after taxes 653.6 

 

The results of the discontinued operations sold in the 

previous year were as follows: 

 

€ millions H1/2014
1)
 

Revenues 181.3 

Other operating income 2.8 

Expenses – 155.7 

Operating result from discontinued operations 
(before taxes) 28.4 

Income taxes – 7.5 

Operating result from discontinued operations (after 
taxes) 20.9 

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations before taxes 905.1 

Taxes on the gain on disposal – 251.6 

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations after 
taxes 653.6 

Income from discontinued operations 674.4 

Thereof attributable to shareholder of Axel Springer SE 636.7 

Thereof attributable to non-controlling interests 37.7 

1)
  The operating result from discontinued operations only concerns the period until 

the closing date as of April 30, 2014. 

 

The following table shows the cash inflows and cash 

outflows attributed to the discontinued operations sold in 

the previous year: 

€ millions H1/2014
1)
 

Cash flow from operating activities 21.5 

Cash flow from investing activities 748.3 

Cash flow from financing activities 0.0 

1)
  The cash flow from operating activities from discontinued operations only concerns 

the period until the closing date as of April 30, 2014. 

 

The cash flow from investing activities for the discontin-

ued operations includes the payments for the sold op-

erations less the cash and cash equivalents disposed of 

in the amount of € 792.4 million and an advance tax 

payment with regard to the profit of the disposal totaling 

€ 43.8 million. 
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Relationships with related parties 

From January to June 2015, we supplied goods and 

services to related companies in the value of 

€ 8.3 million (PY: € 10.4 million). The goods and services 

received from related companies during the reporting 

period had a total value of € 12.4 million (PY: € 13.7 

million). 

 

With regard to discontinued operations in the previous 

year, services were rendered amounting to € 28.3 million 

and services were received amounting to € 1.8 million. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In general, the transactions giving rise to the goods and 

services received and supplied were in line with the 

scope of business dealings described in the conso-

lidated financial statements as of December 31, 2014. 

 

Other disclosures 

Apart from the ensuing exceptions, financial assets and 

liabilities were valued at amortized costs. In this regard, 

except for the financial liabilities towards banks, the 

carrying amounts were equal to the fair values. The car-

rying amount of these financial liabilities amounted to 

€ 1,277.3 million, whereas their fair value was 

€ 1,283.2 million (values as of December 31, 2014: 

carrying amount: € 1,049.0 million, fair value: 

€ 1,062.3 million). 

The following table shows the assets and liabilities 

measured at fair value: 

  06/30/2015 12/31/2014 

€ millions 

Fair value 
based on 
market 
price 

(level 1) 

Fair value 
based on 
observ-

able 
market 

data 
(level 2) 

Fair value 
not based 

on 
observable 

input 
factors 
(level 3) 

Fair value 
based on 
market 
price 

(level 1) 

Fair value 
based on 
observ-

able 
market 

data 
(level 2) 

Fair value 
not based 

on 
observable 

input 
factors 
(level 3) 

Derivatives not designated as a hedging instrument (positive fair 
value)   2.1 198.0   0.5 259.1 

Derivatives designated as a hedging instrument (negative fair 
value)   0.8     0.9   

Derivatives not designated as a hedging instrument (negative fair 
value)   47.7     43.6   

Contingent consideration     268.6     266.4 

 

By exercising a put option in January 2015, we sold 

approximately 2.7 % of our shares in Do⁄an TV Holding 

A.S., Istanbul, Turkey, in the reporting period. The pro-

ceeds from this transaction totaled € 63.3 million. The 

value for the contractually agreed put option rights – 

recorded at the end of the previous fiscal year with the 

value of the discounted payment claims – was reduced 

correspondingly so that there was no income effect in 

the reporting period. As of June 30 2015, the remaining 

put options were measured at fair value on the basis of 

non-observable parameters (discounted payment claims) 

within the balance sheet item financial assets with an 

amount of € 198.0 million (value as of December 31, 

2014: € 259.1 million). In the reporting period, a profit in 

the amount of € 0.4 million was recorded in the income 

statement as a result of compounding. Assuming a varia-

tion of 25 basis points with respect to the interest rate, 

the fair value of the put options would change by ap-

proximately € 2.0 million. 
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The further financial derivatives not designated as a 

hedging instrument were mainly used to hedge loans of 

foreign subsidiaries in Norway and in Great Britain nomi-

nated in Euro (nominal values: € 300.0 million and 

€ 65.0 million), and were recorded within the balance 

sheet items other assets and other liabilities. The valua-

tion of these financial derivatives is based on observable 

parameters using generally accepted valuation models 

and is mainly influenced by the development of forward 

rates and interest yield curves. Like the effects from 

currency translation of the underlying transactions, the 

changes in fair values were recorded in the income 

statement. 

The fair value of obligations from contingent considera-

tion – which is premised on non-observable parame-

ters – amounted to € 268.6 million (value as of Decem-

ber 31, 2014: € 266.4 million) and was recorded within 

the balance sheet item other liabilities. In the course of 

revaluation and compounding, total expenses and in-

come in the amount of € - 2.7 million (PY: € 5.9 million) 

was recorded in the income statement. The fair valuation 

of obligations from contingent consideration predomi-

nantly depends on the estimated results of the acquired 

companies in the years prior to possible exercise dates 

of the options. The earnings used as a basis for meas-

urement are generally EBITDA figures adjusted for mate-

rial non-recurring effects. In case of an increase/a de-

crease of the relevant earnings measures by 10 %, the 

value of the contingent consideration would also fluctu-

ate by 10 %. 

 

Events after the reporting date 

At the beginning of July 2015, we have increased the 

financing volume of our credit line from € 900.0 million to 

€ 1,200.0 million, at the same time extended the term to 

July 2020 (previously 2017) and improved the average 

interest rate. 
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Review Report 

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated interim 

financial statements – comprising the statement of finan-

cial position, income statement, statement of recognized 

income and expenses, statement of changes in cash 

flows, statement of changes in equity, and selected 

explanatory notes – together with the interim group 

management report of Axel Springer SE for the period 

from January 1 to June 30, 2015, which are components 

of the interim financial report pursuant to Section 37w (3) 

WpHG, (“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”: German Securities 

Trading Act). The preparation of the condensed consoli-

dated interim financial statements in accordance with the 

IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted 

by the EU and of the interim group management report 

in accordance with the provisions of the German Securi-

ties Trading Act applicable to interim group management 

reports is the responsibility of the legal representatives of 

the company. Our responsibility is to issue a review 

report on the condensed consolidated interim financial 

statements and on the interim group management report 

based on our review. We conducted our review of the 

condensed consolidated interim financial statements and 

the interim group management report in accordance with 

German generally accepted standards for the review of 

financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) 

(IDW). Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the review so that we can preclude, through critical eval-

uation, with moderate assurance, that the condensed 

consolidated interim financial statements have not been 

prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 

IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted 

by the EU and that the interim group management report 

has not been prepared, in all material respects, in ac-

cordance with the provisions of the German Securities 

Trading Act applicable to interim group management 

reports. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of com-

pany personnel and analytical procedures and thus 

provides less assurance than an audit. Since, in accord-

ance with our engagement, we have not performed a 

financial statements audit, we cannot express an audit 

opinion. 

Based on our review, no matters have come to our at-

tention that cause us to presume that the condensed 

consolidated interim financial statements have not been 

prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 

IFRS applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted 

by the EU, nor that the interim group management report 

has not been prepared, in all material respects, in ac-

cordance with the provisions of the German Securities 

Trading Act applicable to interim group management 

reports. 

Berlin, August 3, 2015 

 

Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

 

 

 

Ludwig            Mielke  

Wirtschaftsprüfer           Wirtschaftsprüferin 

[German Public Auditor]          [German Public Auditor]
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Declaration of the legal representatives 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 

the applicable reporting principles for interim reporting, 

the consolidated interim financial statements give a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, 

and profit or loss of the Group, and the interim Group 

management report includes a fair review of the devel-

opment and performance of the business and the posi-

tion of the Group, together with a description of the 

principal opportunities and risks associated with the 

expected development of the Group. 

Berlin, July 28, 2015 

Axel Springer SE 

 

  

Dr. Mathias Döpfner Jan Bayer 

 

 

 

Dr. Julian Deutz Dr. Andreas Wiele 

Report of the Audit Committee of the 
Supervisory Board 

The interim financial report as of June 30, 2015 and the 

independent auditor’s review report of the interim con-

solidated financial statements, which served as the basis 

for the auditor’s certification, were presented to the Audit 

Committee of the Supervisory Board and were explained 

by the Management Board. These documents were 

discussed by the Audit Committee of the Supervisory 

Board with the Management Board and the independent 

auditor. The Audit Committee approved the interim fi-

nancial statements. 

A reproduction of the review report of the independent 

auditor is provided in the notes to the interim financial 

statements of this interim financial report. 

Berlin, in August 2015 

Lothar Lanz 

Chairman of the Audit Committee 

Disclaimer 

This interim financial report contains forward-looking 

statements, which are necessarily fraught with certain 

risks and uncertainties. The future development and 

results of Axel Springer SE and the Axel Springer Group 

may differ considerably from the assumptions applied for 

purposes of this interim financial report. The present 

interim financial report does not constitute an offer to sell, 

nor an invitation to submit an offer to buy, securities of 

Axel Springer SE. The present interim financial report 

does not entail an obligation on the part of the company 

to update the statements contained therein. 



 

    

 Interim Financial Report as of June 30, 2015  

 Axel Springer SE  

 38  

   

Financial calendar 2015 

Annual Financial Statements Press Conference March 4, 2015 

Annual Shareholders' Meeting April 14, 2015 

Quarterly Financial Report as of March 31, 2015 May 7, 2015 

Interim Financial Report as of June 30, 2015 August 4, 2015 

Quarterly Financial Report as of September 30, 
2015 November 4, 2015 

 

Contacts 

Axel Springer SE 

Axel-Springer-Strasse 65 

10888 Berlin 

Tel. +49 (0) 30 25 91– 0 

 

Investor Relations 

Fax +49 (0) 30 25 91– 7 74 22 

ir@axelspringer.de 

 

Claudia Thomé 

Co-Head of Investor Relations 

Tel. +49 (0) 30 25 91– 7 74 21 

claudia.thome@axelspringer.de 

 

Daniel Fard-Yazdani 

Co-Head of Investor Relations 

Tel. +49 (0) 30 25 91– 7 74 25 

daniel.fard-yazdani@axelspringer.de 

 

Additional information about Axel Springer SE is available 

on the Internet at www.axelspringer.de. The interim finan-

cial report is also available in the original German. 
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